
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 

ASHEVILLE DIVISION 

CIVIL ACTION NO: 1:18-CV-349-MR-WCM 
 

 

       

WILLIE A. GREEN, SR. and  )  

5-STAR ATHLETE, INC.,  )  

       ) 

   Plaintiffs,  ) 

       ) 

  v.     )   

      ) 

CITY OF SHELBY and RICK   ) 

HOWELL (INDIVIDUALLY),  )

      )

   Defendants.  )  

_______________________________) 

 

Pursuant to Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, Defendants hereby submit this Memorandum of Law in Support of 

their Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint and move the Court for an order 

dismissing each of Plaintiffs’ claims with prejudice and for an order staying 

these proceedings pending the Court’s ruling on Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss. In support, Defendants state as follows: 

I.  SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted on 

either of their causes of action, which include a 42 U.S.C. § 1981 race discrimination 

claim against the City of Shelby and a libel per se claim against Defendant Rick 
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Howell in his individual capacity. First, with regard to Count I of Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint, the U.S. Supreme Court, as well as the U.S. Fourth Circuit Court of 

Appeals, have ruled that 42 U.S.C. § 1981 does not provide for a private right of 

action against state actors such as the City of Shelby.  

Second, with regard to Count II of Plaintiffs’ Complaint against Defendant-

City Manager Howell in his individual capacity, the allegedly libelous 

communication of which Plaintiffs complain was not published, and further, even if 

it had been published, Defendant Howell is entitled to absolute immunity against a 

claim of libel regarding this communication with City Council. Additionally, 

Plaintiffs allegations of malice against Defendant Howell are entirely conclusory 

and unsubstantiated. Moreover, all of the acts complained of in Plaintiffs’ Complaint 

against Defendant Howell relate solely to the performance of his official duties as 

set forth in N.C.G.S. § 160A-148, the Charter of the City of Shelby and the Shelby 

City Code. As such, Defendant Howell is entitled to public official’s immunity 

regarding Plaintiffs’ claim of libel per se. Further, given that all of Plaintiffs’ claims 

against Defendant Howell arise out of his official duties as the City Manager of the 

City of Shelby, the real party in interest is the City of Shelby, which is entitled to 

governmental immunity regarding Plaintiffs’ claim of libel per se. 

Alternatively, in the communication at issue, Defendant Howell stated matters 

of opinion, which fail to constitute libel per se as a matter of law. Finally, Plaintiffs’ 
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punitive damages claims against Defendant Howell must be dismissed because 

Defendant Howell acted only in his official capacity, and punitive damages are not 

recoverable against governmental agencies.  

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

On or about November 7, 2018, Plaintiffs filed a civil action in the Superior 

Court of Cleveland County, North Carolina. On December 4, 2018, Defendants 

removed this civil action to the United States District Court for the Western  

District of North Carolina, Asheville Division (Doc. 1). Thereafter, upon 

Defendants’ Motions, the Court entered Orders granting Defendants up 

to and including February 25, 2019 in which to answer or otherwise 

respond to Plaintiffs’ Complaint (Docs. 15, 17). Defendants now respond 

to Plaintiffs’ Complaint by filing their Motion to Dismiss, and in support 

thereof, their Memorandum of Law. 

III. FACTS 

 Viewing the forecast of evidence in the light most favorable to 

Plaintiffs as the non-moving parties, the following is a recitation of the 

relevant facts. Plaintiff Green alleges he is an African-American male who has 

lived in the City of Shelby for approximately twenty years and that he has served 

in a leadership capacity for that entire period of time (Doc. 1-2, ¶¶ 5-6). As 

examples of his leadership in the community and public service, Plaintiff Green 
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stated he founded the Cleveland County Promise Scholarship, chaired the 

NAACP’s Legal Redress Committee and Economic Development Committee, 

served as a member of the Sheriff Citizen Review Panel and the City of Shelby 

Chief of Police Partnership for Change. (Id., ¶ 6). Plaintiff Green also is a nine-

year veteran of the NFL, and he serves as the Chief Executive Officer and 

President of Plaintiff 5-Star Athlete, Inc. (hereinafter “5-Star”). (Id., ¶ 7).1  

From approximately May 2016 to 2018, Mr. Green, on behalf of 5-Star, had 

discussions with the City, primarily through its City Manager, Defendant Rick 

Howell, about Mr. Green’s proposal to build a sports facility, for which Mr. Green 

sought City resources, including utilizing City property for his project. The City 

did not accept any of the various proposals Green presented. (Id., ¶¶ 9-13, 16). In 

his claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, Plaintiffs allege the City of Shelby refused, 

based on race, to enter into a public private partnership with them to create their 

desired sports complex. (Id., ¶¶ 32-33). 

Plaintiffs’ initial proposal on May 2, 2016 included building a sports complex 

on City-owned property known as Holly Oak Park (Id., ¶¶ 10, 12). The City did not 

agree to Plaintiff Green’s proposal for building a sports complex at the Holly Oak 

                                                           
1 5-Star was created on March 7, 2017 according to the public records of the N.C. Secretary of State, listing 

“Sports Specific Training” as the nature of the business in the 2018 annual report, of which the Court is 

requested to take judicial notice pursuant to Rule 201 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, and is attached to 

this Memorandum of Law as Exhibit 1.    
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Park location. (Id., ¶ 15). Plaintiff Green claims he purchased approximately 16 acres 

of land, in alleged reliance on the City’s indication of continued interest in his 

proposal (Id.). Public records reflect the land was purchased by an LLC in July 

2016.2  Plaintiffs provided several proposals thereafter (Id., ¶ 13), including a new 

proposal for a sports complex with the use of private land (Id., ¶ 16) which was 

rejected in July 2017 (Id., ¶ 17). Thereafter, Plaintiff Green attempted to re-open 

negotiations with the City of Shelby with yet another proposal in November 2017, 

seeking yet again to open the sports facility at the City-owned Holly Oak Park 

location (Id., ¶ 19), which the City previously had rejected as a possible location for 

the sports complex as proposed by Plaintiffs (Id., ¶ 15).  

The City Manager, Defendant Howell, advised Plaintiff Green that all 

proposals regarding a sports complex would be subject to the scrutiny of City 

Council and that City Council would “make the final decision” (Id., ¶ 22). Further, 

City Manager Howell stated in an email dated April 17, 2018 to the City Council 

that his “assessment of the situation is that Mr. Green does not have the money or 

financial backing to build the sports complex… especially given [Green] has a 

contingency contract to sell the best part of it to an apartment complex… and 

believes [Green] somehow sees Holly Oak Park as a way to develop that sports 

                                                           
2 According to public records consisting of tax and register of deeds records and records of the N.C. 

Secretary of State, reflected in Exhibits 2, 3 and 4 attached hereto, of which the Court is requested to take 

judicial notice pursuant to Fed. R. Evid. 201, the land was purchased on July 8, 2016 by a real estate 

consulting entity in which Plaintiff Green is the manager, Partnership Alliance Company, LLC. 
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complex using public resources. [City Manager Howell had] serious doubts [Green] 

will put any significant amount of money towards any improvements.” (Id., ¶ 24). It 

is this April 17, 2018 email from Defendant-City Manager Howell to City Council 

that Plaintiffs rely upon for their claims of libel per se against Defendant Howell in 

his individual capacity (Id., ¶¶ 24, 36-39).3  At no time were any of Plaintiffs’ 

proposals approved by City Council, and Plaintiff Green was aware based upon his 

communications with City Manager Howell that City Council approval was required 

for a project of the type Plaintiffs proposed. (Id., ¶ 22).   

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW   

Plaintiffs Complaint should be dismissed under Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Applying the standards set out below to the 

allegations of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, the only outcome is for the dismissal of all 

claims brought by Plaintiffs. 

                                                           

3 Plaintiffs quoted Defendant Howell’s email to City Council in their Complaint and explicitly relied upon the 

email in their Complaint (Doc 1-2, ¶¶ 24, 36-39). An authenticated copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 

6. The affidavit of Defendant Howell authenticating this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 5. The Court is 

requested to take judicial notice of this public record as permitted by Federal Rule of Evidence 201. Without 

converting a Motion to Dismiss into a Motion for Summary Judgment, a Court may consider documents extrinsic 

to the Complaint if they are “integral to and explicitly relied on in the complaint and… are authentic.” See Robinson 

v. Am. Honda Co., 551 F.3d 218, 222-23 (4th Cir. 2009). 
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For Rule 12(b)(1) challenges to jurisdiction, the Plaintiff bears the burden of 

proving that subject matter jurisdiction exists. Evans v. B. F. Perkins Co., 166 F.3d 

642, 647 (4th Cir. 1999). “When a defendant challenges subject matter jurisdiction 

pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), the district court is to regard the pleadings as mere 

evidence on the issue, and may consider evidence outside the pleadings without 

converting the proceeding to one for summary judgment.” Id. (quotation omitted). 

The central issue for resolving a Rule 12(b)(6) motion is whether Plaintiffs’ 

claims state a plausible claim for relief. See Francis v. Giacomelli, 588 F.3d 186, 

189 (4th Cir. 2009). In considering Defendants’ motion, the Court accepts the 

allegations in the Complaint as true and construes them in the light most favorable 

to Plaintiffs.  Nemet Chevrolet, Ltd. v. Consumeraffairs.com, Inc., 591 F.3d 250, 253 

(4th Cir. 2009); Giacomelli, 588 F.3d at 190-92. Although the Court accepts well-

pled facts as true, it is not required to accept “legal conclusions, elements of a cause 

of action, and bare assertions devoid of further factual enhancement . . . .”  

Consumeraffairs.com, 591 F.3d at 255; see also Giacomelli, 588 F.3d at 189.  

The claims need not contain “detailed factual allegations,” but must contain 

sufficient factual allegations to suggest the required elements of a cause of action. 

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1964-65 (2007); 

see also Consumeraffairs.com, 591 F.3d at 256. “[A] formulaic recitation of the 

elements of a cause of action will not do.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555, 127 S. Ct. at 
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1965. Nor will mere labels and legal conclusions suffice. Id. Rule 8 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure “demands more than an unadorned, the defendant-

unlawfully-harmed-me accusation.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 S. Ct. 

1937, 1949 (2009).  

 “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that 

allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the 

misconduct alleged.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678, 129 S. Ct. at 1949; see also 

Consumeraffairs.com, 591 F.3d at 255. The mere possibility that a defendant acted 

unlawfully is not sufficient for a claim to survive a motion to dismiss. 

Consumeraffairs.com, 591 F.3d at 256; Giacomelli, 588 F.3d at 193. Ultimately, the 

well-pled factual allegations must move a plaintiff’s claim from possible to 

plausible. Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570, 127 S. Ct. at 1974; Consumeraffairs.com, 591 

F.3d at 256. Further, although a motion pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) invites an inquiry 

into the legal sufficiency of the complaint, not an analysis of potential defenses to 

the claims set forth therein, dismissal nevertheless is appropriate when the face of 

the complaint clearly reveals the existence of a meritorious affirmative defense.  See 

Richmond, Fredericksburg, & Potomac R.R. Co. v. Forst, 4 F.3d 244, 250 (4th Cir. 

1993). 

In addressing a motion to dismiss, the Court can take judicial notice of 

matters of public record without converting Defendant’s Rule 12(b)(6) motion into 
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a motion for summary judgment. See Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 

551 U.S. 308, 309-10, 129 S.Ct. 2499, 2502 (2007). The Fourth Circuit Court of 

Appeals has specifically approved consideration of matters of public record when 

addressing a motion to dismiss based upon Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

12(b)(6): 

In considering such a motion, we accept as true all well-pleaded 

allegations and view the complaint in the light most favorable to the 

plaintiff. Mylan Labs., 7 F.3d at 1134. In reviewing the dismissal of 

a complaint under Rule 12(b)(6), we may properly take judicial 

notice of matters of public record. Hall v. Virginia, 385 F.3d 421, 

424 (4th Cir. 2004) (citing Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 268 n. 

1, 106 S.Ct. 2932, 92 L.Ed.2d 209 (1986)). We may consider 

documents attached to the complaint, see Fed.R.Civ.P. 10(c), as well 

as those attached to the motion to dismiss, so long as they are integral 

to the complaint and authentic, see Blankenship v. Manchin, 471 

F.3d 523, 526 n. 1 (4th Cir. 2006). Finally, for purposes of Rule 

12(b)(6), “we are not required to accept as true the legal conclusions 

set forth in a plaintiff's complaint.” Edwards v. City of Goldsboro, 

178 F.3d 231, 244 (4th Cir. 1999). 

 

See Sec'y of State For Defence v. Trimble Navigation Ltd., 484 F.3d 700, 705 (4th 

Cir. 2007). 

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A.  Count I of Plaintiffs’ Complaint against Defendant City of Shelby 

Must be Dismissed Because 42 U.S.C. § 1981 does not Provide a 

Private Right of Action against State Actors 
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 The City of Shelby (“City’) is a municipal corporation created pursuant to 

Chapter 160A of the North Carolina General Statutes. See N.C.G.S. 160A-11 et seq. 

In reliance upon Chapter 160A of the General Statutes, the City’s Charter provides: 

Sec. 1. - Name; body politic.  

That the inhabitants of the City of Shelby shall be and continue, as they 

have heretofore been, a body politic and corporate, and henceforth the 

said corporation shall bear the name and style of City of Shelby, and 

under that name is hereby invested with all the property and rights of 

property which now belong to the present corporation of the City of 

Shelby, … and said City of Shelby is hereby invested with all other 

rights and powers necessary or usually pertaining to municipal 

corporations.  

 See Charter of the City of Shelby, Subpart B, Section 1, 

https://library.municode.com/nc/shelby/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTICH

RELA  

 

Section 1981 grants all persons within the United States equal rights “to  make 

and enforce contracts.” See 42 U.S.C. § 1981.4  Significantly, in 1989, the Supreme 

                                                           
4 42 U.S.C. § 1981 provides: 

(a) Statement of equal rights 

All persons within the jurisdiction of the United States shall have the same right in every State and Territory 

to make and enforce contracts, to sue, be parties, give evidence, and to the full and equal benefit of all laws 

and proceedings for the security of persons and property as is enjoyed by white citizens, and shall be subject 

to like punishment, pains, penalties, taxes, licenses, and exactions of every kind, and to no other. 

 

(b) “Make and enforce contracts” defined 

 

For purposes of this section, the term “make and enforce contracts” includes the making, performance, 

modification, and termination of contracts, and the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, and 

conditions of the contractual relationship. 

 

(c) Protection against impairment 

 

The rights protected by this section are protected against impairment by nongovernmental discrimination 

and impairment under color of State law. 
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Court held that 42 U.S.C. § 1981 does not provide an independent federal cause of 

action for damages against governmental entities. See Jett v. Dallas Indep. Sch. Dist., 

491 U.S. 701, 109 S.Ct. 2702, 105 L.Ed.2d 598 (1989). Instead, Jett held that 

“Congress intended that the explicit remedial provisions of § 1983 be controlling in 

the context of damages actions brought against state actors alleging violation of the 

rights declared in § 1981.” Id. at 733, 109 S.Ct. at 2722.  Likewise, the U.S. Court 

of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit has held that to the extent a Plaintiff pleads claims 

against a state actor under § 1981, they run afoul of Jett. See Dennis v. Cty. of 

Fairfax, 55 F.3d 151 (4th Cir. 1995). In Dennis, the Fourth Circuit, quoting Jett, 

stated: “[W]hen suit is brought against a state actor, § 1983 is the ‘exclusive federal 

remedy for violation of the rights guaranteed in § 1981.’” Id. at 156 (quoting Jett, at 

491 U.S. 733, 735-36). See also Childress v. City of Richmond, Va., 907 F. Supp. 

934, 940 (E.D. Va. 1995), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 120 F.3d 476 (4th Cir. 1997), 

reh'g en banc granted, opinion vacated (Sept. 24, 1997), on reh'g en banc, 134 F.3d 

1205 (4th Cir. 1998), and aff'd, 134 F.3d 1205 (4th Cir. 1998) (A plaintiff cannot 

separately state a claim against a municipality under § 1981. When suit is brought 

against a state actor, § 1983 is the exclusive remedy for federally guaranteed rights); 

                                                           
 

42 U.S.C. § 1981 (2012). 
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Campbell v. Forest Pres. Dist. Of Cook Cty., Ill., 752 F.3d 665 671 (7th Cir. 2014) 

cert denied, 135 S.Ct. 937 (2015)(collecting U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals decisions 

finding that Jett remains good law and that § 1983 is the exclusive remedy for claims 

under § 1981 brought against state actors).  

Count I of Plaintiffs’ Complaint is brought against the City of Shelby, a state 

actor, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1981. As established above, § 1981 does not provide 

a private right of action against a state actor. Rather, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides the 

exclusive remedy for claims under § 1981 against a state actor, such as the City of 

Shelby, which is a North Carolina municipality duly chartered by the State of North 

Carolina. Consequently, Count I of Plaintiffs’ Complaint must be dismissed for lack 

of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(1) and pursuant to 

Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted.5  

B. Plaintiffs Fail to State a Claim of Libel per se against Defendant 

Rick Howell in his Individual Capacity Because the 

Communication Complained of was not Published to a Third Party 

 

 As reflected on the face of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, Defendant Rick Howell 

serves as the City Manager for Defendant City of Shelby. (Doc. 1-2, ¶¶ 10, 20-25, 

36). The powers and duties of a City Manager are statutorily prescribed in North 

                                                           
5 Separate and apart from the fact that Plaintiffs have no private right of action against the City for alleged 

violations of § 1981, their entirely conclusory allegations fail to sufficiently state facts giving rise to the 

conclusion that the City intended to discriminate against them. See Baker v. McDonald’s Corp, 686 F.Supp. 

1474, 1481 (S.D. Fla. 1987), aff’d 865 F.2d 1272 (11th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 812 (1989).  
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Carolina. See N.C.G.S. § 160A-148 and City Code of Shelby, Sec. 2-112. 

Accordingly, the City Manager “shall be the chief administrator of the city. He shall 

be responsible to the council for administering all municipal affairs placed in his 

charge by them, and shall have the following powers and duties: … 

(2)     He shall direct and supervise the administration of all 

departments, offices, and agencies of the city, subject to the 

general direction and control of the council, except as otherwise 

provided by law. 

(3)     He shall attend all meetings of the council and recommend any 

measures that he deems expedient… 

(7)     He shall make any other reports that the council may 

require concerning the operations of city departments, offices, 

and agencies subject to his direction and control…. 

 

Id. 

In his position as City Manager, Defendant Howell exercises “deliberation, decision 

and judgment,” and thus, falls within the definition of a public official. Meyer v. 

Walls, 347 N.C. 97, 113, 489 S.E.2d at 889 (quotation marks omitted) 

(distinguishing a public official who “exercise[s] a certain amount of discretion” 

from an employee who “perform[s] ministerial duties” (quotation marks omitted)). 

“To be actionable, a defamatory statement must be false and must be 

communicated to a person or persons other than the person defamed.” See Andrews 

v. Elliot, 109 N.C. App. 271, 274, 426 S.E.2d 430, 432 (1993). In North Carolina, 

libel per se is a publication which, when considered alone without explanatory 

circumstances: (1) charges that a person has committed an infamous crime; (2) 
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charges a person with having an infectious disease; (3) tends to impeach a person in 

that person’s trade or profession; or (4) otherwise tends to subject one to ridicule, 

contempt or disgrace. See Boyce & Isley, PLLC v. Cooper, 153 N.C.App. 25, 29, 

568 S.E.2d 893, 898 (2002) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted) 

(emphasis added), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 965, 124 S.Ct. 431, 157 L.Ed.2d 310 

(2003). [D]efamatory words to be libelous per se must be susceptible of but one 

meaning and of such nature that the court can presume as a matter of law that they 

tend to disgrace and degrade the party or hold him up to public hatred, contempt or 

ridicule, or cause him to be shunned and avoided. See Renwick v. News and Observer 

and Renwick, 310 N.C. 312, 317-18, 312 S.E.2d 405, 409 (citation and quotation 

marks omitted) (emphasis in original), rehearing denied, 310 N.C. 749, 315 S.E.2d 

704, cert. denied, 469 U.S. 858, 105 S.Ct. 187, 83 L.Ed.2d 121 (1984). 

Plaintiffs cannot state a claim for libel per se against Defendant Howell in his 

individual capacity because the communication of which Plaintiffs complain is “an 

April 17, 2018 email correspondence directed to City Council Members by the City 

Manager….” (Doc. 1-2, ¶ 24). It is clearly established in North Carolina that an intra-

office communication does not meet the requirement of publication for the purpose 

of libel where the individuals who read the communication at issue are within the 

same organization as the writer of the communication. Satterfield v. McLellan 

Stores, 215 N.C. 582, 2 S.E.2d 709 (1939).  
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Significantly, Defendant Howell was statutorily required in his capacity as 

City Manager to “recommend any measures that he deems expedient” to City 

Council and to “make any other reports that the Council may require concerning the 

operations of city departments, offices, and agencies subject to his discretion and 

control.” See N.C.G.S. § 160A-148. Indeed, Defendant Howell’s purpose in sending 

the email to City Council was to seek “direction from Council as to how [Council] 

want[ed] to approach Mr. Green’s request to appear before Council to present his 

proposal.” See Exhibit 6. Not only was it Defendant Howell’s statutory duty to do 

so, it was imminently reasonable for him to seek guidance from City Council 

regarding Plaintiff Green’s request to appear before Council given the two-year 

history of Green providing various proposals to Howell, the Mayor and the City for 

Plaintiffs’ proposed sports complex. Clearly, restricting Defendant Howell from 

communicating with Council about “measures that he deemed expedient” in 

response to Plaintiff Green’s request to appear before Council is contrary to 

Howell’s statutory rights and obligations as City Manager. It cannot be the case that, 

when a public official such as City Manager Howell has rights and obligations 

regarding keeping Council informed and seeking direction from City Council, 

communication in conformity with those rights and obligations constitutes 

publication for purposes of a libel suit. The North Carolina Supreme Court has held 

that such circumstances in the context of public employment do not establish 
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publication for a claim of libel. See White v. Tew, 366 N.C. 360, 365-66, 736 S.E.2d, 

169-70 (2013).  

Inasmuch as Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to adequately plead or establish 

publication of the alleged libelous communication by Defendant Howell, Count II 

of Plaintiffs’ Complaint must be dismissed for failure to state a plausible claim upon 

which relief can be granted pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).  

C. Plaintiffs Fail to State a Claim of Libel per se against Defendant 

Rick Howell in his Individual Capacity Because Defendant Howell 

is entitled to Absolute Immunity from Plaintiffs’ Claim of Libel 

 

 Under North Carolina law, public officials, such as Defendant Howell, are 

entitled to absolute immunity from suit on claims of defamation when they have 

investigated facts, drawn conclusions from them, and have taken official action 

based upon their conclusions. See Lanier Constr. Co. v. City of Clinton, N.C., 812 

F. Supp. 2d 696, 701 (E.D.N.C. 2011); Angel v. Ward, 43 N.C. App. 288, 258 S.E.2d 

788, 792 (1979). In Lanier, a disappointed bidder brought an action against the City 

and the City Manager, Connett, alleging that the City rejected its bid for a 

revitalization project because it was an African-American corporation. The City and 

City Manager moved to dismiss, which was granted. Lanier, 812 F. Supp. 2d at 702.  

 The U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of North Carolina noted that 

at a City Council meeting, City Manager Connett communicated to Council that 

Plaintiff Lanier had failed to complete four of its five prior construction projects on 
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time, which had resulted in liquidated damages. The City Manager also provided 

Council with a written memorandum prior to the Council meeting in which he 

recommended rejection of Lanier’s bid on the grounds that Lanier was not the lowest 

responsible bidder. The matter was put on the Council’s agenda. At the meeting, 

Council adopted City Manager Connett’s recommendation as set forth in his written 

memorandum to Council and awarded the contract to a non-minority bidder. The 

Court held that the City Manager’s statements to Council were made in the context 

of a quasi-judicial proceeding, and he was entitled to absolute immunity from 

Plaintiff’s claim of defamation.  

As demonstrated on the face of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, Plaintiffs had a 

unilateral expectation that the City would accept some version of one of their 

proposals, based in part upon a previously adopted City resolution.6 Defendant 

Howell and Council members were faced with how to best respond to Plaintiff 

Green’s request to present his most recent proposal to Council. See Exhibit 6. After 

approximately two years of investigating and responding to Plaintiff Green’s various 

                                                           
6 See Exhibit 7, Resolution No. 56-2008, “A Resolution Adopting the Parks and Recreation 10-Year 

Comprehensive Master Plan.” Although Plaintiffs assert that this Resolution called for the City to partner with a 

private-sector partner to build a sports complex (Doc 1-2, ¶ 9), the Resolution contains no such language. 

Defendants request that the Court take judicial notice of this authenticated public record as permitted by Fed. R. of 

Evid. 201 without converting this Defendants’ Motion into a Motion for Summary Judgment. Without converting 

a Motion to Dismiss into a Motion for Summary Judgment, a Court may consider documents extrinsic to the 

Complaint if they are “integral to and explicitly relied on in the complaint and… are authentic.” See Robinson v. 

Am. Honda Co., 551 F.3d 218, 222-23 (4th Cir. 2009). Defendant Howell’s Affidavit authenticating this Resolution 

is attached hereto as Exhibit 5.  
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proposals and requests for the sports complex, City Manager Howell provided 

Council with his assessment of Plaintiffs’ most recent proposal and sought Council’s 

guidance in his email dated April 17, 2018. In that email, Defendant Howell drew 

conclusions about the proposal and Plaintiffs’ level of commitment based upon the 

facts as known to him. See Exhibit 6. Like City Manager Connett in the Lanier 

Construction case, supra, Defendant Howell is entitled to absolute immunity from 

Plaintiffs’ allegations of liber per se concerning his communications with Council 

in which he sought their guidance on how to best respond to Plaintiff Green and his 

request to appear before Council to again discuss Plaintiffs’ proposal for the sports 

complex. Because Defendant Howell is entitled to absolute immunity from 

Plaintiffs’ claim of libel per se set forth in Count II of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, Count 

II of the Complaint must be dismissed for failure to plausibly state a claim for relief.  

D.  Plaintiffs Fail to State a Claim of Libel per se against Defendant 

Rick Howell in his Individual Capacity Because Plaintiffs’ 

Allegations of Malice are Nothing More than Conclusory 

 

As set forth immediately above in Section V.C., Defendant Howell is entitled 

to absolute immunity from Plaintiffs’ claims of libel per se. Significantly, a 

statement which is absolutely privileged will not support a defamation claim, even 

if the statement was knowingly false and made with express malice. Smith v. 

McDonald, 895 F.2d 147, 148-49 (4th Cir. 1990).  As demonstrated by the face of 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint, however, Defendant Howell did not act with malice. Rather, 
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he acted solely in conformity with his statutory obligations pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 

160A-148 in his official capacity as the City Manager of the City of Shelby.  

Assuming, arguendo, that Defendant Howell’s communication with City 

Council is not clothed with absolute immunity, Plaintiffs’ Complaint nonetheless 

fails to state a valid claim that Howell acted with malice. Plaintiffs characterize 

Defendant Howell’s communications with Council regarding their proposal as 

containing “unfounded pessimism” and lacking in “detailed analytics.” (Doc. 1-2, ¶ 

23). Such conduct, even if assumed to be true for purposes of this Motion only, 

clearly does not reflect malice on Howell’s part toward Plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs then 

contend, without identifying any factual support whatsoever, that Defendant Howell 

acted “maliciously, with corrupt intent and acting outside and beyond the scope of 

his official duties” by providing City Council with his April 17, 2018 email. (Id., ¶ 

24).  

A plaintiff filing suit against a public official such as City Manager Howell 

must do more than allege malice to state a valid claim. "It is well established that 'a 

conclusory allegation that a public official acted willfully and wantonly should not 

be sufficient, by itself, to withstand a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. The facts 

alleged in the complaint must support such a conclusion.'" Mitchell v. 

Pruden,     N.C. App.    , 796 S.E.2d 77, 83 (2017) (quoting Meyer v. Walls, 347 

N.C. 97, 114, 489 S.E.2d 880, 890 (1997)). A thorough review of Plaintiffs’ 
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Complaint reveals Plaintiffs have done nothing more than set forth entirely 

conclusory allegations that Defendant Howell acted maliciously and with corrupt 

intent. Their Complaint is devoid of factual allegations in support of their allegations 

of malice on the part of Defendant Howell. Further, “[i]t is well settled that absent 

evidence to the contrary, it will always be presumed that public officials will 

discharge their duties in good faith and exercise their powers in accord with the spirit 

and purpose of the law.” Leete v. County of Warren, 341 N.C. 116, 119, 462 S.E.2d 

476, 478 (1995). Accord Maines v. City of Greensboro, 300 N.C. 126, 132, 265 

S.E.2d 155, 159 (1980). “This places a heavy burden on the party challenging the 

validity of public officials’ actions to overcome this presumption by competent and 

substantial evidence.”   Leete, 341 N.C. at 119, 462 S.E.2d at 478. 

Based upon the allegations contained in Plaintiffs’ Complaint and the 

authorities set forth above, Count II of Plaintiffs’ Complaint must be dismissed 

because it fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

E.  Plaintiffs Fail to State a Claim of Libel per se against Defendant 

Rick Howell in his Individual Capacity Because all of the Actions 

Complained of are Based Solely on Howell’s Performance of his 

Official Duties as City Manager 

 

Likewise, a review of Plaintiffs’ Complaint reveals that each act attributed to 

Defendant Howell by Plaintiffs are acts that constitute Howell’s fundamental 

fulfillment of his statutory duties as City Manager of the City of Shelby. (Doc. 1-2, 

¶¶ 10, 13, 15, 20-23). The North Carolina Supreme Court has held that a public 
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official "acts with malice when he wantonly does that which a man of reasonable 

intelligence would know to be contrary to his duty and which he intends to be 

prejudicial or injurious to another." Grad v. Kaasa, 312 N.C. 310, 313, 321 S.E.2d 

888, 890 (1984) (citation omitted) (emphasis added); see also Wilcox v. City of 

Asheville, 222 N.C. App. 285, 288, 730 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2012). Clearly, the acts 

attributed to Defendant Howell by Plaintiffs are not acts that a City Manager of 

reasonable intelligence wound know to be contrary to his duty. Further, Plaintiffs 

have plead no facts tending to show that Defendant Howell intended his acts to be 

prejudicial or injurious to them.  

Plaintiffs have named Defendant Howell in his individual capacity. However, 

a public official such as Howell is immune from suit absent evidence that "the 

challenged action was (1) outside the scope of official authority, (2) done with 

malice, or (3) corrupt." Wilcox v. City of Asheville, 222 N.C. App. 285, 288, 730 

S.E.2d 226, 230 (2012) (citations omitted). There is no interpretation of the facts as 

plead by Plaintiffs that would result in a finding that Defendant Howell acted outside 

the scope of official authority, with malice or in a corrupt manner. Therefore, 

Defendant Howell is entitled to public official’s immunity from Plaintiffs’ claims of 

libel per se. Consequently, Plaintiffs’ allegations of libel per se against Defendant 

Howell in his individual capacity, as set forth in Count II of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, 

must be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  
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F.  Alternatively, Plaintiffs Fail to State a Claim of Libel per se against 

Defendant Rick Howell in his Individual Capacity Because he 

Provided only an Opinion in the Communication of which 

Plaintiffs Complain 

 

Even assuming, arguendo, that Plaintiffs’ claims of libel per se against 

Defendant Howell in his individual capacity have not failed based upon the law and 

arguments set forth above, Plaintiffs’ claims nevertheless fail because an 

examination of Defendant Howell’s April 17, 2018 email to City Council reveals he 

was expressing his opinions regarding Plaintiffs’ proposal for the sports complex. 

Under North Carolina defamation law, rhetorical hyperbole and expressions of 

opinion are protected speech. See Daniels v. Metro Magazine Holding Co., LLC, 179 

N.C. App. 533 (2006). For example, Defendant Howell stated in the email, “I 

believe,” “my assessment of this situation is,” and “I would like to hear your 

individual thoughts….” See Exhibit 6. “When a speaker plainly expresses ‘a 

subjective view, an interpretation, a theory, conjecture or surmise, rather than [a] 

claim[ ] to be in possession of objectively verifiable [false] facts, the statement is not 

actionable.’ ” Biospherics, Inc. v. Forbes, Inc., 151 F.3d 180, 186 (4th Cir. 1998) 

(quoting Haynes v. Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 8 F.3d 1222, 1227 (7th Cir. 1993)). 

However, “[t]hough opinion per se is not immune from a suit for libel, a statement 

is not actionable unless it asserts a provably false fact or factual connotation.” 

Chapin v. Knight-Ridder, Inc., 993 F.2d 1087, 1093 (4th Cir. 1993). Plaintiffs have 

plead no evidence tending to indicate that the statements in Defendant Howell’s 
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April 17, 2018 email to City Council were provably false fact or factual connotation 

and not opinion. Therefore, Plaintiffs’ claims of libel per se against Defendant 

Howell fail as a matter of law and are subject to dismissal for failure to state a claim 

upon which relief can be granted.  

G. Plaintiffs’ Punitive Damages Claim against Defendant Rick Howell 

in his Individual Capacity Must be Dismissed Because Defendant 

Howell Acted only in his Official Capacity, and Punitive Damages 

are not Recoverable against Governmental Entities  

 

North Carolina does not recognize a stand-alone claim for punitive damages. 

See, e.g., Horne v. Cumberland Cty. Hosp. Sys., Inc., 228 N.C. App. 142, 150, 746 

S.E.2d 13, 20 (2013) (holding that where all plaintiff’s substantive claims are 

dismissed, “she is precluded from recovering punitive damages”). Further, to 

recover punitive damages in a libel claim, a plaintiff “faces the additional burden of 

proving ‘actual malice’ on the part of the defendants, by showing that the defendants 

published the libelous material with knowledge of its falsity or with reckless 

disregard for the truth.” Cochran v. Piedmont Pub. Co. Inc., 62 N.C. App. 548, 549, 

302 S.E.2d 903, 904 (1983). As established above, Plaintiffs have plead no facts that 

give rise to an inference of malice on the part of Defendant Howell. Therefore, 

Plaintiffs’ claim for punitive damages fails, and must be dismissed.  

WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully request that Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint be dismissed in its entirety with prejudice for lack of subject 

Case 1:18-cv-00349-MR-WCM   Document 19   Filed 02/25/19   Page 23 of 25



24 
 

matter jurisdiction and for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted, that this action be stayed pending the Court’s ruling on this Motion 

to Dismiss, and that Defendants be awarded costs and attorney’s fees incurred in 

the defense of this matter. 

    Respectfully submitted, this 25th day of February 2019 

 

 

     s/Martha Raymond Thompson   

     (N.C. State Bar # 16020) 

     Attorney for Defendants  

     STOTT HOLLOWELL PALMER &  

WINDHAM, LLP 

     401 E. Franklin Boulevard  

     P.O. Box 995  

     Gastonia, NC 28053     

     Telephone: 704-864-3425 

     Fax:  704-864-0478 

     Email:  mthompson@shpw.com 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on the 25th day of February, 2019, I electronically filed 

the foregoing MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ 

MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT with the Clerk of Court 

using the CM/ECF which will send notification of such filing to the following and I 

directly served him on his email address: 

Dominique L. Camm 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

dcamm@freedmanlawgroup.com   

 

  

    s/Martha Raymond Thompson   

            (NC State Bar # 16020) 

    Attorney for Defendants 

    STOTT HOLLOWELL PALMER & WINDHAM, LLP 

    401 E. Franklin Boulevard, Gastonia, NC 28054  

    P.O. Box 995,  Gastonia, NC 28053-0995 

    Telephone: 704-864-3425      

    Fax:  704-864-0478 

    Email:  mthompson@shpw.com 

 

 

Case 1:18-cv-00349-MR-WCM   Document 19   Filed 02/25/19   Page 25 of 25

mailto:dcamm@freedmanlawgroup.com
mailto:mthompson@shpw.com

